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Vision

Excellence... Our trademark for products,
systems and service.

Mission
“To exceed the expectations of our customers
in the production, marketing and delivery of
quality products and service through innovation
and the development of smart partnerships
with all constituent groups.”

Values
We promote innovation and creativity
We manufacture quality products consistently
We deliver service excellence
We encourage employee fellowship and involvement
We commit to integrity, honest work, and professionalism
We believe in good corporate citizenship

Corporate Profile
Banks Holdings Limited (BHL) is the largest beverage
producing conglomerate in Barbados comprising four
subsidiaries including a brewery - Banks (Barbados)
Breweries Ltd., a bottling plant - Barbados Bottling Co.
Ltd, a dairy - Barbados Dairy Industries Ltd. (Pine Hill
Dairy) and a distribution company - B&B Distribution
Ltd. which includes a wholesale outlet.
BHL’s shares are listed on the Barbados Stock Exchange.
REGISTERED OFFICE: Pine Hill Dairy Complex,
The Pine, St. Michael, Barbados

ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW: Carrington & Sealy

AUDITORS: Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants

BANKERS: CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank

Associated Companies
Citrus Products of Belize Limited
Chemical Industries Limited
GCG Services Limited
Caribco Limited
Newtech Inc.
BCL (Barbados) Limited
Tower Hill Merchants PLC
BCB Communications Inc.
Banks DIH Limited

(46.58%)
(40%)
(33.33%)
(30%)
(26.2%)
(25%)
(36.7%)
(20%)
(20%)
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Subsidiaries
Banks (Barbados) Breweries Limited
Newton, Christ Church
Tel: (246) 227-6750
Fax: (246) 227-6790

Barbados Bottling Co. Limited
Newton, Christ Church
Tel: (246) 418-3300
Fax: (246) 418-3350

Barbados Dairy Industries Limited
(Pine Hill Dairy)
The Pine, St. Michael
Tel: (246) 227-6600
Fax: (246) 227-6660

B&B Distribution Limited
Newton, Christ Church
Tel: (246) 418-2900
Fax: (246) 418-2970
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Notice of Annual
Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Fifty-fourth Annual General Meeting
of Banks Holdings Limited (‘the Company’) will be held at the Lloyd
Erskine Sandiford Centre, Two Mile Hill, St. Michael, Barbados, on
Thursday, 14 March, 2013 at 4:00 pm for the following purposes:
1. To receive and consider the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Financial Year ended
31 August, 2012 and the Auditors’ Report thereon;
2. To elect Directors;
3. To appoint Auditors for the ensuing financial year;
4. To transact any other business which may properly come
before the meeting.

By Order of the Board

Cherie S.A. Jones
Corporate Secretary
6 February 2013

The notes to the enclosed Proxy Form are incorporated in
this notice.
		
REGISTERED OFFICE:

Pine Hill Dairy Complex
The Pine
St. Michael
Barbados
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Directors
as of 6 February 2013

MR. ANTHONY KING

CEO & Managing Director

Mr. King, a Barbadian national, graduated in 1975 with a
B.Sc. (Honours) degree in Computer Science. After working
with an international computer firm, he joined the Neal &
Massy Group, eventually becoming the Chairman of Neal
& Massy’s Eastern Caribbean business unit in the mid
1990’s. In October 2004 Mr. King was appointed CEO of
the Barbados Shipping & Trading Group (BS&T). Following
Neal & Massy’s acquisition of BS&T in 2008, Mr. King
became an Executive Director of Neal & Massy Holdings but
remained as BS&T’s CEO, assisting the integration of BS&T’s
operations into the Group. With that process substantially
complete, he retired as an executive of BS&T and Neal &
Massy during 2012. Mr. King continues to serve on the Neal
& Massy Holdings Board as a Non-executive Director.

Mr. Richard Cozier has been with the BHL group since 1978
and was appointed to the BHL Board in February 1999. A
Fellow of The Certified General Accountants of Canada he
was also awarded a fellowship by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Barbados. During his tenure with BHL he has
held several managerial positions and played an important
role in shaping the conglomerate. He currently represents
the Group on the Boards of Banks DIH in Guyana, Citrus
Products of Belize Limited in Belize and Caribco Limited
in the Bahamas. He is a past Chairman of the Caribbean
Breweries Association and retains a seat on that Board;
locally he is a past President of the Barbados Manufacturers
Association and is a former Council Member of the
Barbados Chamber of Commerce and Industry, whose
interests he still represents on the Board of the Barbados
Stock Exchange. He is also an independent Director on the
Board of the Barbados Private Sector Association.

He currently serves on the Boards of a number of companies
incorporated in Barbados and continues to participate at the
national level as the Chairman of the Tourism Development
Corporation and as a Director of the Barbados Private Sector
Association, the umbrella private sector body in Barbados.
Mr King is a Past President of the Barbados Chamber of
Commerce & Industry.
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MR. RICHARD COZIER

Chairman

MR. GERVASE WARNER

MR. ELVIN SEALY

Mr. Gervase Warner joined the BHL Board in 2008 as the
representative of S.P. Musson. President & Group Chief
Executive Officer of Neal & Massy Holdings Ltd., Mr. Warner
has extensive experience in the Financial, Information
Technology, Telecom and Petroleum sectors. He holds an
MBA from the Harvard Graduate School of Business and
prior to joining the Neal & Massy Group, he led the Puerto
Rico office and Caribbean Practice of McKinsey & Company
Inc. He currently serves on the Trinidad & Tobago Board of
Citigroup Merchant Bank Limited and the Arthur Lok Jack
Graduate School of Business.

Mr. Elvin Sealy joined the Board of Directors in March
2004. Mr. Sealy has distinguished himself both in terms
of his corporate undertakings and his community service.
Awarded a Civil Aviation Scholarship by BOAC, predecessor
to British Airways, he pursued air transport studies at Slough
College of Technology and Ealing Technical College (UK).
He is a former Airport Manager, BOAC, and has worked
in all areas of BA’s operation holding a number of key
management positions. He served as Commercial Manager
South Caribbean from June 2002 to August 31, 2006. Mr.
Sealy is a former Chairman of the Airlines Association.
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MR. GEORGE McDONALD

MR. LUIS ALVAREZ

Mr. George McDonald joined the BHL
Board in September 2010. A graduate of
the University of Guyana, Mr. McDonald
holds a degree in Economics and has
also completed the Western Executive
Programme at the University of Western
Ontario. He possesses over 30 years
experience in the beverage business and
currently holds the position of Assistant
Managing Director/Marketing Director
with Banks DIH Ltd and is also a Director
of Citizens Banks Guyana Inc.

In 2011, Mr. Luis R. Alvarez was appointed
to the BHL Board, filling the vacancy
resulting from Mr. Ed Bushell’s resignation.
Mr. Alvarez has significant operating
experience in the beverage industry,
previously holding positions at the CocaCola Company in Atlanta; at Caribbean
Refrescos Inc, a division of the Coca-Cola
Company, where he was Country Manager
for the Dominican Republic and also
oversaw the Bahamas, Jamaica, Bermuda
and Antigua. He also served as Marketing
and Sales Director of Coca-Cola’s bottler
in El Salvador, where he worked for 15
years. Mr. Alvarez has also served in other
marketing positions and various Board
positions over the years.

MR. DOMINIC HADEED

MS. NIARA FRASER

MR. CHRIS DE CAIRES

Dominic Hadeed leads the Aziz Hadeed
Group of Companies, a diverse group of
successful enterprises based in Trinidad,
involved in manufacturing, distribution,
wholesale and retail sales, real estate and
property development. Mr. Hadeed holds
a BSc. in Business Administration from
Lynn University which complements his
strong entrepreneurial spirit and drive to
succeed. These qualities have allowed
Mr. Hadeed to undertake and successfully
accomplish very challenging projects. At
the age of 24, he formed his first company,
Blue Waters Products Limited which began
as a small bottled water manufacturing
and distribution company in Trinidad and
has evolved into the market leader in the
Bottled Water and Energy Drink categories
in the Trinidad & Tobago non-alcohol
beverage market. Mr. Hadeed’s passion
for business has driven his involvement in
both the Trinidad and Tobago Chamber of
Commerce and the Trinidad and Tobago
Manufacturers’ Association (TTMA) where
he has just been elected to his second
term as President. Mr. Hadeed also chairs
the Marketing Committee of the TTMA
and advocates on many issues on a
national level.

Ms. Niara Fraser joined the BHL Board in
2012 as the representative of LRE CORP.
She is an attorney-at-law and certified
mediator who was called to the Bar of
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines in 2007
and subsequently to the Bar of Barbados
in 2010. She received a Bachelor of Law
Degree Second Class Honours (upper
division) from the University of the West
Indies Cave Hill Campus Barbados and
also completed the Legal Education
Certification at the Hugh Wooding
Law School in Trinidad and Tobago,
graduating on the Principal Honour’s List
and obtaining the award of the Pelham
Sloane-Seale Memorial prize for the
best performance in Conveyance and
Registration of Title.

Christopher deCaires is a Chartered
Accountant and holds an MBA from
Henley Management College in the
United Kingdom. He has over 25 years
professional and management experience
in Barbados, Guyana and the wider
Caribbean as well as Brazil and the United
Kingdom. He is currently the Managing
Director of Fednav International Ltd, a
privately owned international shipping
company.

She is currently an associate with
Chancery Chambers in Barbados under
the leadership of Dr Trevor Carmichael
where she focuses mainly on Corporate/
Commercial Law and Conveyancing.

His areas of expertise include corporate
finance, international taxation, financial
management, mergers and acquisitions,
information
systems,
organisational
design and business planning.
Mr. deCaires has served as a Partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers and Senior Vice
President with the Interamericana Trading
Corporation. He also served as Chairman
of World Cup Barbados, has been a
director of Sagicor Financial Corporation
and Trinidad Cement Limited and
currently serves on the boards of several
international business companies.
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Directors

who demitted office subsequent to 31 August 2012

SIR ALLAN FIELDS, KCMG

MR. DAN B. STOUTE

MR. ROBERT RAMCHAND

Sir Allan Fields was first appointed to the
Board in August 1988 when he joined Banks
(Barbados) Breweries Ltd. as Managing
Director later assuming its chairmanship.
He is credited with conceptualising and
effecting the restructuring and expansion
of Banks into the largest local beverage
conglomerate that it is today. A certified
engineer, he received his early training
in Scotland before returning to Barbados
to begin a journey that has led him to
the pinnacle of local business. Knighted
by Queen Elizabeth in 2005, he is also a
former Senator. Sir Allan formerly headed
the Barbados Private Sector Association,
and chairs several key Boards both locally
and in Trinidad.

Mr. Dan Stoute, who was appointed as a
board member in November 2003, also
served as Director of Operations at BHL
from January 2004 to 2011 and then as
Consultant – Operations until 2012. He
joined the Group in 1999 as General
Manager of the Barbados Bottling Co.
Limited. (BBC). Also as BBC’s Managing
Director, he is credited with spearheading
vast developments at the company
leading to its being ranked as the number
one Coca-Cola bottler for quality in the
Caribbean Region. He is a member of
the International Society of Beverage
Technologists, and with over 30 years of
experience in the Mechanical/ Electrical
field, is a privileged member of the
Electrical Apparatus Service Association.

Mr. Robert Ramchand joined the BHL
Board in 2008 as the representative of
Blue Waters Products Limited. With more
than 17 years experience in the beverage
industry in the Caribbean, Mr. Ramchand
brings considerable experience to his
post. He is the Chairman of BCL (Barbados)
Limited and is a director of the Trinidad
and Tobago Chamber of Commerce.
He is a graduate of the University of the
West Indies with a BSc Accounting and a
University of Miami, MBA.

Corporate Secretary
MS. CHERIE JONES
Secretary

Ms Cherie Jones serves as Company
Secretary and Corporate Counsel to
Banks Holdings Limited. An Attorneyat-Law of over 15 years’ experience, her
professional experience has focussed on
corporate and commercial law, intellectual
property and securities law and regulation.
She was admitted to the Bar of Barbados
in 1997. She possesses a Bachelor of Laws
degree (with honours) from the University
of the West Indies and a Master of Laws
Degree from the University of London.
She is also a former tutor in Business Law
at the University of the West Indies Faculty
of Management Studies.
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Chairman’s Report
Following a difficult 2011 financial year, the year ending
August 2012 proved to be no less challenging in many
respects but it did bring a welcome end to the transitional
issues and costs associated with the changeover to the
new brewery. The positive results for the first quarter of the
new financial year, as published, reflect the turn-around
of profitability for parent and subsidiaries upon which we
must now build.
For the 2011/12 Year under review, revenue for the Group
was marginally lower in a market of reduced demand;
however, despite bearing duplicated costs for the two
brewery plants during the phasing in of the new brewery,
operational results improved before accounting for
interest, property revaluations and the remaining exit costs
arising from the closure of the old brewery.
Barbados Dairy Industries continued to return losses to the
Group ending the year with a loss of $4.7 million albeit
reduced from the $6.6 million of the previous year. Further
improvements must be made in that business, including a
viable resolution to the issue of the relatively high cost of
milk from the local producers versus import alternatives.
The aggregate loss recorded by the parent and its
subsidiaries was formidably supported by an improved
performance from our associated companies, whereby
our share of their net income increased to $13.3 million
from $11.1 million in the prior year. Of particular note,
Citrus Products of Belize Limited again benefited from
higher crop yields and citrus commodity prices while the
Guyana economy continued to record meaningful growth
facilitating a record performance from Banks DIH Limited.
During the year the Group adopted the policy of
depreciating its freehold buildings and as a result the
comparative statements for 2011 and 2010 have been
restated to conform to the changed policy. Accordingly,
the Consolidated Net Income attributable to Equity
Holders of $7 million for the year ended August 2012 with
Earnings per Share of 11 cents is to be compared with a
restated Net Income of $8.3 million and 13 cents Earnings
per Share for the year ended August 2011.
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With the large capital expenditure programme now behind us together with the ability of the
Group to return to positive cash flows through the efficiencies now being achieved from those
investments, your Board decided to pay a reduced dividend of 7 cents notwithstanding the loss
incurred with its subsidiaries.
As noted in last year’s report, short term cash resources were being held to substantially complete
the capital expenditure and payment of related restructuring costs. Thus, while cash flow from
operating activities was positive for the year, much of the cash on hand was utilised for the final
phase of installation of the new brewery and the working capital position of the Group reflects this.
With certain of our properties now in excess of our needs, it is planned that proceeds from the sale
of our large Wildey site will be utilised to reduce debt and hence interest costs thereafter. As at the
time of writing, a sale has not as yet been concluded but is being pursued.
Notwithstanding the constraints of our results, we continued to support our established charities
and sponsorship activities with both donations to worthwhile causes and through our marketing
spend. With regard to our environmental responsibility, as mentioned by the Managing Director
in his accompanying report, we recently initiated a programme for the recycling of Tetra Pak
packaging which expands the avenues for recycling our various containers. We have also
introduced a lower density PET bottle which reduces the plastic in circulation and this of course
continues to be recyclable.
Before closing, I must recognise the contribution of Banks Holdings’ prior Chairman, Sir Allan
Fields, who first joined Banks Breweries as Managing Director and during his tenure, brought the
operations together that now comprise the set of subsidiaries held by Banks Holdings, thereby
creating the Group as a beverage conglomerate. In taking his place as Chairman, I thank the Board
for the confidence they have placed in me. I wish also to thank Mr. Dan Stoute who served the
Group both as an executive and as a director, for his stewardship in modernising and improving
several of the production facilities. In particular, Dan guided the selection and installation of the
new brewery. Following his retirement as an executive, Dan resigned from the Board as at the end
of December 2012 and I am very pleased to welcome Mr. Chris deCaires who was appointed to
fill the vacancy. Chris has a great deal of experience in business and organisational development
and he will bring a new perspective to the Board. Further, Mr. Bob Ramchand resigned from the
Board on September 4th 2012 and was replaced by Mr. Dominic Hadeed. On behalf of the Board
I extend appreciation to Bob for his contribution over the years and look forward to working with
Dominic.
Finally, on behalf of the Board, I extend our appreciation to the employees and management of
the Group for their continued dedication and our thanks to our customers and all stakeholders for
your continued support and patronage of the BHL Group.

G. Anthony King
Chairman
6 February 2013
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Managing Director’s Report
Consolidated Results
Profit attributable to shareholders for the financial year
ended 31st August 2012 amounted to just over $7 million.
This was achieved primarily through the results of our
Associates as our local subsidiaries returned a loss in
aggregate.
While sales revenues declined only marginally, several
one-off charges totaling close to $4 million in respect of
local operations contributed to the decline. These charges
consist of an impairment of $1.3 million arising from
reduced property valuations in respect of our investment
properties at Thornbury Hill and Warrens and the remaining
costs associated with the closure of the operations of
Banks Brewery at the Wildey site which resulted in writeoffs of various equipment of $1.15 million together with
staff separation costs of $1.5 million. These costs, with the
possible exception of the real estate valuation declines
will not be repeated in the next financial year; had these
charges not been necessary, results from continuing
operations would have been similar to last year despite the
recessionary pressures on our operations.
The increased interest charges are commensurate with our
borrowings now that the new brewery has been completed.
A reduction in these finance charges will be achieved as
the debt is earmarked to be reduced upon the sale of the
Wildey property and we are seeking to achieve this in the
new financial year.
The operations at Pine Hill Dairy again impacted group
performance, accounting for over $3.9 million in losses
to the consolidated results; this is primarily due to higher
input and conversion costs incurred which had to be
absorbed due to the market conditions that prevailed. The
fresh milk industry is currently in a state where both farmer
and processor will be hard pressed to achieve meaningful
growth without industry reform. To this end the parties have
made joint representation to Government for an industrywide intervention and while Government has signaled their
intent to provide the requested support, to date it remains
only a proposal. Performances of the other local operations
are detailed in the respective sections of this report.
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Results from Associates recorded an increase led by another strong performance by Banks DIH in
Guyana; this entity achieved record financial results, reporting an after tax profit of $32.3 million,
an increase of $5.3 million over 2011. Management there attributes the results to continued strong
growth in revenues spurred by the economic growth in the country. Revenues grew by $30 million
as a result of double digit volume increases and selling price increments during the year. The
growth trend is continuing so far in the current year.
As noted in last year’s report, the operations at Citrus Products of Belize benefited from both a
good crop and strong commodity pricing to record an after tax profit of just under $10 million.
As this operation’s core business is largely dictated by the world market pricing of an agricultural
commodity, their ongoing results will be subject to pricing fluctuations outside of their control.
Early indications for the 2012/13 financial year are that commodity prices have softened and are
not likely to strengthen materially prior to the upcoming crop season; as such the results from
this operation will likely decrease for the coming year-end although they are expected to remain
positive.
Sales revenues for the Bahamas operation remained strong but results, while profitable, were
also impacted due to costs related to their transitioning from an old plant and facility to a new
operation and site during the year. However, cost savings as a result of the improved operations
are now being recorded.

Banks (Barbados) Breweries Ltd.
The results for the brewery need to be considered in the context of the transition that was
completed during the year. The commissioning of the new facility in Newton commenced in the
previous year and full operations were achieved towards the end of Q1 of this financial year. As a
result, there were several one-off costs incurred during 2012 including write-offs of equipment for
which no sale could be made as well as the costs of separations in respect of the decreased staffing
requirements of the new facility. Additionally the cost of running two breweries in parallel during
the commissioning phase would have brought a level of duplicated expenses into the operation.
However, following the commencement of full production at the new facility, we have registered
appreciable improvements in operating costs and these gains have afforded us the opportunity
to take on the competition “head on” in respect to their preferred marketing strategy of material
price support mechanisms. The revised strategy coupled with a strong national campaign has
yielded results and we have since registered double digit growth in volume for Banks Beer.
The launches of our brewed brands in cans have also been well received by consumers, especially
in the non-alcoholic category where sales have notably exceeded our expectations. The net result
of these positive achievements is that domestic profits on brewed products are improving despite
the aggressive pricing in the market and the recessionary nature of the economy.
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During the year we also successfully launched Banks Beer into the UK market through our relationship
with Marstons PLC. That launch has gone extremely well for us and the brand has established itself
within Tescos, one of the UK’s leading supermarket chains. In fact, after only 4 months into that market
the brand has broken into the top 100 Premium Brands – entering at number 75 the highest ranking for
a Caribbean owned brand.
The commissioning of the canning line in March and subsequent roll-out of our non-alcoholic brewed
brands has also brought new life to both PLUS & Tiger Malt and sales growth in these brands continues
to be encouraging. The new packaging has also opened opportunities for exports and already Banks
Beer in cans, brewed and packaged in Barbados, has been successfully launched in Guyana. Given that
we now have this additional capability, we have initiated discussions with international brand owners in
respect of co-packing opportunities and expect two such opportunities to materialize within the new
financial year.
As expected, operating costs at Newton have improved significantly compared to those at the old Wildey
site especially relative to water usage and thermal energy where usage rates are now at 50% or lower
than previous levels while process losses are at a fraction of those previously experienced. We continue
to work with the equipment suppliers to extract further gains and definitive plans are in place to improve
on the new lower cost.

Banks Beer, Tiger Malt, PLUS and Coconut Cooler are now being packaged in cans

Barbados Bottling Co. Ltd.
The financial year 2012 was one in which BBC faced several challenges, mainly surrounding sales which
fell by $1.6 million. We made several cuts in expenditure during the course of the year, which were
successful in ensuring that profitability exceeded 2011 despite the reduction in sales.
We continue to monitor product lifecycles and during the year retired several Frutee flavours whilst
launching new flavours. This strategy continues to work as the lift in sales from the new flavours is
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significantly higher than the reduction occasioned by phasing out the
older flavours. Therefore, although total sales declined, the Frutee subcategory registered some growth.
We also continue our efforts to be a better Corporate Citizen and during
the year we succeeded in light-weighting our 500ml PET package. This
light-weighting further reduces the amount of plastic the nation has
to process either through recycling or through the waste system. Our
efforts in this respect will be continued in the coming year as we target
similar reductions in size and weight of our closures.
During the year we were successful in winning the Chefette contract and
this new multi-year contract is designed to bring immediate financial
benefits to both parties. Subsequent to the year-end we also succeeded
in signing a multi-year deal for the supply of beverages with KFC; the
addition of these two fast food chains will meaningfully improve our
performance in that sector of the market.
Apart from the above, we plan several new initiatives, a number of
which are expected to be rolled out during the second half of the new
financial year.

The New Bottle design
of Frutee

B&B Distribution Limited
The 2011 / 2012 financial year brought an organisational transformation for B & B. Significant changes in
management and a complete change of the Commercial Team charted a new direction for the company.
The positions of General Manager, Customer Service Manager, Warehouse Manager and Sales Manager
all changed in the financial year under review.
Net Sales closed above the previous year by $1.5 million, however, as a result of deploying discounts
on beer so as to address the aggressive pricing of brands imported from Trinidad and St. Lucia, B&B’s
contribution was lower. These imported brands have, to varying degrees, adopted a heavily discounted
pricing policy as the main plank of their marketing efforts and have realised a level of success. During
the year we matched their pricing on a targeted basis and volumes began to return to previous levels.
Indeed, since year-end, we have seen further improvements in sales despite the advent of another
discounted brand into the market. Expenses have also been kept in check in spite of increases in labour
and energy charges.
Against the backdrop of a recession and increased competitor activity, a substantial amount of ground
work was undertaken with respect to branding, customer outreach, customer contracts and promotions.
We expect to reap the full rewards of these in 2013 and early indicators are positive as volumes are
increasing in our leading brands.
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Barbados Dairy Industries Limited
This operation registered an improvement in performance but still recorded a substantial loss,
ending the year with a loss of $4.7 million as against $6.6 million in the previous year. The reduced
losses were as a result of improvements in production costs and higher sales. Improvements
continue to be achieved and results early in the new year are encouraging.
With regard to local sales, at the beginning of the financial year, we outsourced our remaining selfdistribution of Tetra Gemini Aseptic (TGA) packaged Milks and Juices as well as Yogurts to our two
existing distributors. This transition was closely managed and despite a few initial issues, quickly
settled down. By the second half of the year, many of the operational issues in the plant which had
caused significant lost sales due to “stock outs” had been resolved and we were in a much better
position to meet both local and export requirements.
The transition of the 1Litre TGA juice brand from Caribbean Pride to PineHill was completed
during the first quarter of the year and the packaging of the 250ml juices was ‘refreshed’ during
the second half.
Near the year-end, and in response to growing consumer demand, Fresh Pasteurized Milk was
re-launched. The taste of the product has been well received; however this has not translated into
sales as the majority of consumers continue to opt for the convenience of the shelf stable Ultra
Pasteurised milks notwithstanding a contraction in demand overall, with single digit percentage
declines on the prior year. A national Milk Campaign, aimed at increasing local milk consumption
which is being funded by both Pine Hill as well as by the Barbados Dairy and Beef Producers
Association has been developed and was launched subsequent to the year-end; this campaign is
an important element of addressing several myths and untruths regarding fresh milk consumption.
Moderate increases in sales volumes
were seen in Sweetened Condensed
Milk, Flavoured Milks and Milkshakes.
Unfortunately the re-entry into the market
of a competing brand of evaporated milk
led to our sales in that category being flat
during the year.
The loss of the yogurt supply to a large
catering customer at the beginning of
the financial year, compounded by the
aggressive pricing on imported brands
by several leading retailers, resulted in
the declines in yogurt sales of over 20%.
A thorough analysis of this operation was
conducted and the decision was taken to
cease production by the end of calendar
year 2012.
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During the first quarter, we sought to arrest the decline in export sales with the hosting of a Regional
Distributors Conference held in Barbados which was followed by visits to the various territories.
Coupling this with significant trade activation and branding, we have seen a strong recovery in
overall export sales across all categories. While Antigua remains our largest export market, the
largest growth has been realised in Guyana. Additionally, having overcome many ‘red tape’ issues
related primarily to requirements for packaging, we re-entered the Trinidad market and, for the
first time, we entered the Jamaican market.
Operationally, the targeted date for certification in achieving four International Standards in
respect of Quality, Safety and Environmental Management has been set for September 2013 and
we continue to make steady progress towards this goal.
During the first quarter of the year, we finalised the arrangements with our recycling partner, B’s
Recycling and in addition to all plastics, metals, and cardboard we are also now recycling 100% of
post-production Tetra Pak material and have launched Tetra Pak recycling programmes in over 20
schools across the island.
The Dairy Industry faces considerable challenges for the future. Input costs across the sector
continue to escalate and in order to ensure the sustainability of the industry, farmers, Government
and the Dairy must all continue to work closely to develop strategies which address the challenges
ahead.
We will continue to focus on reducing our production costs by cutting waste in all forms from
our operations and will strive to maintain the Pine Hill Brand as one that can be relied upon for
quality, consistency and value. Further, we have several new products and packaging options in
the developmental pipeline and these coupled with our new Commercial structure are expected
to deliver positive results.
In closing I would like to thank our staff, distributors, suppliers, customers and consumers for their
continued cooperation, support and patience over the past year and look forward to strengthening
our relationships in the coming year.

C. R. Cozier, F.C.G.A.
Managing Director / CEO
6 February 2013
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BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Financial Highlights
							
Restated
As Published
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
REVENUE ($000’S)
176,624
177,325
184,045
185,724
183,080
NET ASSETS ($000’s)
297,049
296,985
308,087
253,831
227,070
NET INCOME ($000’s)
7,017
8,334
7,360
8,905
10,617
						
EARNINGS PER SHARE (cents) (a)
11.0
13.0
14.0
17.0
21.0
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE (cents)
7.0
9.0
12.0
14.0
14.0
						
TIMES DIVIDEND COVERED
1.57
1.44
1.17
1.21
1.50
						
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE ($) (b) 4.58
4.58
4.75
4.92
4.48
						
SHARE PRICE ($) ( c )
3.00
3.82
4.13
4.39
4.20
					
P/E RATIO

27.27

29.38

29.50

25.82

20.00

During the year the Group adopted the policy of depreciating its freehold buildings and as a result the
comparative Net Assets and Net Income were restated to conform to the new policy. The figures for the
years prior to 2011 are as previously published.
350,000
300,000

$000's

250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
50,000
-

2012

2011
REVENUE ($000'S)

2010
NET ASSETS

2009

2008

NET INCOME

25.0

Cents

20.0
15.0
10.0
5.0
-

2012

2011
EARNINGS PER SHARE (cents) (a)

2010

2009

2008

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE (cents)

Notes: (a) Computed using the weighted average ordinary shares in issue during the year
(b) Computed using the total ordinary shares in issue at year-end
(c) Closing price as quoted by the Barbados Stock Exchange on the last day of trading
for the financial year
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1.

The Directors hereby submit their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 August 2012.
		
$
2.

The consolidated net income for the year attributable to parent was
Which is added to the restated retained earnings brought forward of
Less dividend paid (9¢ per share)
Plus repurchase of minority shareholding
		
Giving retained earnings carried forward of
		

7,016,785
119,563,246
(5,836,838)
92,758
----------------------------120,835,951
=============

3.

A dividend of 7cents per share for the financial year ending 31 August 2012 was declared by the
Board of Directors on 6 February 2013 with a payment date of 5 March 2013. Shareholders on
record on 22 February 2013 are entitled to receive the dividend. This dividend will be accounted
for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 2013.

4.

In accordance with Clause 4.4 of the Company’s By-Laws, the following Directors cease to hold
office at the end of this Annual Meeting, but are eligible for re-election for a period of three (3)
years:
Mr. Elvin Sealy
Mr. Luis Alvarez
Mr. Christopher deCaires

5.

According to the Company’s register, the interests of persons who were Directors as at the close
of business on 31 August 2012, and at 28 January 2013 respectively were as follows:
Name
S.P. Musson Son & Co. Ltd
Robert Ramchand 1
Carl Richard Cozier
Dan B. Stoute 2
Sir Allan Fields 3
G. Anthony King
Elvin Sealy
George McDonald
Luis Alvarez
LRE CORP.
J. Enrique Origgi 4
Dominic Hadeed
Christopher deCaires

No. of Shares at
31 August 2012
1,925,000
61,473
50,620
48,003
33,569
15,499
2,632
-

No. of Shares at
28 January 2013
1,925,000
61,473
50,620
48,003
33,569
15,499
2,632
-

Mr. Robert Ramchand resigned from the Board of Directors on 4 September 2012 and was replaced
by Mr. Dominic Hadeed on 4 September 2012
2 Mr. Dan B. Stoute resigned from the Board of Directors effective 31 December 2012 and was replaced
by Mr. Chris de Caries on 6 February 2013
3 Sir Allan Fields resigned from the Board of Directors effective 28 November 2012
4 Mr. J Enrique Origgi resigned from the Board of Directors effective 22 June 2012 and was replaced
by LRE CORP. on 18 July 2012
1

20

ANNUAL REPORT 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Directors’ Report
6. 		

There have been no changes in the Directors’ interests occurring between the end of the
Company’s financial year and close of business on 28 January 2013 as outlined at item 5 above.

7.		

Particulars of contracts subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a Director
of the Company is or was materially interested and which is or was significant in relation to the
Company’s business:

(i)

Agreement for Operations Consultancy Services – Banks Holdings Limited and Dan Bryan Stoute
dated 12 December 2011 for the provision of operations consultancy services.

8. (i)
		

Interests of persons other than Directors holding more than 5% of the issued shares as at
31 August 2012 were as follows:
Name
SLU Beverages Ltd.
Barbados Shipping and Trading Co. Ltd.
BWPL Holdings Ltd.
Sagicor Financial Corporation
Banks D I H Limited

(ii)

Percentage
20.43%
16.93%
11.75%
6.71%
6.70%

Interests of persons other than Directors holding more than 5% of the issued shares as at 28
January 2013 were as follows:
Name
SLU Beverages Ltd.
Barbados Shipping and Trading Co. Ltd.
BWPL Holdings Ltd.
Sagicor Financial Corporation
Banks D I H Limited

9.

No. of Shares
13,250,000
10,982,292
7,619,211
4,349,106
4,343,415

No. of Shares
13,250,000
10,982,292
7,620,651
4,349,106
4,343,415

Percentage
20.43%
16.93%
11.75%
6.71%
6.70%

The retiring auditors, Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants, offer themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board

Cherie S.A. Jones
Corporate Secretary
6 February 2013
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Banks Holdings Limited
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Banks Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries (‘the Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31
August 2012 and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Group as of 31 August 2012, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Barbados
28 January 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Income
Year ended 31 August 2012

		
Restated
Notes
2012
2011
			
$
$
Continuing operations
Revenue

4

Loss from continuing
operations before undernoted items
4
Change in fair value of investment properties
12
Impairment of decommissioned brewery assets		
Severance costs		
Interest income		
Interest expense		
Unrealised loss on short-term investments		
Gain on sale of short-term investments		

176,624,413
177,325,264
===================================
(541,501)
(1,049,975)
(1,300,000)
(1,147,215)
(1,996,634)
(1,666,397)
11,355
157,660
(3,391,258)
(2,203,345)
(249,999)
(198,750)
60,623
---------------------------------------------------------------------------

Loss from continuing operations
– parent and subsidiaries		 (8,554,629)
(4,960,807)
Share of income of associated companies
10
13,282,072
11,096,287
--------------------------------------------------------------------------		 4,727,443
6,135,480
Taxation
5
1,501,582
1,207,539
--------------------------------------------------------------------------Net income for the year from continuing operations		
6,229,025
7,343,019
Discontinued operations
Income for the year from discontinued
operations

27

276
--------------------------------------------------------------------------Net income for the year		 6,229,025
7,343,295
		===================================
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent		
7,016,785
8,334,405
Non-controlling interests		
(787,760)
(991,110)
		--------------------------------------------------------------------------		 6,229,025
7,343,295
		===================================
Earnings per share
21
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to equity holders of the parent (2011: previously
reported - 14¢)		
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations attributable to equity holders of the parent
(2011: previously reported - 14¢)		

11¢
13¢
===================================
11¢
13¢
===================================

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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			Restated
Notes
2012
2011
			
$
$
Net income for the year		 6,229,025
7,343,295
		===================================
Other comprehensive loss
Revaluation of land and buildings		
(10,801,142)
Share of revaluation (deficit) surplus and fair value reserve
of associated companies
19
(171,708)
25,966
Foreign currency translation adjustment
19
(875,496)
		
--------------------------------------------------------------------------Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax		
(1,047,204)
(10,775,176)
		--------------------------------------------------------------------------Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax		
5,181,821
(3,431,881)
		===================================
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent		
5,969,581
(2,440,771)
Non-controlling interests		
(787,760)
(991,110)
		--------------------------------------------------------------------------		 5,181,821
(3,431,881)
		===================================
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Restated
Restated
Notes
2012
2011
2010
$
$
$
Current assets
Cash and short-term deposits
6
3,342,770
16,972,419
51,296,676
Accounts receivable and prepayments
7
19,029,127
15,947,035
19,076,121
Taxation recoverable		
22,003
22,103
2,089
Inventories
8
35,853,007
38,190,551
34,104,489
Short-term investments
5
495,003
693,753
Current portion of loans receivable		
16,447
		
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------58,246,912
71,627,111
105,189,575
Asset classified as held for sale
28
11,210,812
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------69,457,724
71,627,111
105,189,575
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
6
13,707,420
7,883,566
1,437,623
Accounts payable and accruals
9
25,968,477
29,031,672
18,692,159
Grant
16
59,700
59,700
39,800
Provision for deposits owed to customers		 551,893
560,370
770,474
Current portion of long-term liabilities
17
11,294,255
11,741,911
7,541,958
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------51,581,745
49,277,219
28,482,014
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Working capital

17,875,979

22,349,892

76,707,561

Investments in associated companies
10
112,247,112
102,010,783
92,459,934
Property, plant and equipment
11
171,496,813
179,618,399
143,797,557
Investment properties
12
12,500,000
13,800,000
13,800,000
Intangible assets
13
578,962
578,962
578,962
Pension plan asset
14
6,755,435
5,734,701
6,382,408
Post-employment medical liability
15
(2,122,994)
(2,001,789)
(1,874,764)
Deferred tax
5
10,185,835
8,682,615
7,475,076
Grant
16
(437,800)
(497,500)
(557,200)
Long-term liabilities
17
(24,753,845)
(24,859,897)
(22,274,800)
		
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------304,325,497
305,416,166
316,494,734
		
=====================================================
Equity
Share capital
18
145,965,608
146,126,846
145,991,082
Capital reserves
19
30,247,846
31,295,050
42,070,226
Retained earnings
120,835,951
119,563,246
119,011,292
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Attributable to equity holders of the parent
297,049,405
296,985,142
307,072,600
Non-controlling interests
7,276,092
8,431,024
9,422,134
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total equity
304,325,497
305,416,166
316,494,734
=====================================================
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Approved by the Board on 28 January 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

.............................................................Chairman
G. Anthony King

.............................................................Director
C. R. A. Cozier F.C.G.A.

25

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Balance as of 31 August 2011 as restated

Total transactions with shareholders

Transactions with shareholders:
Shares subscribed
Share-based payment
Change in equity component of convertible
promissory notes
Dividend paid (12.0¢ per share)

Total comprehensive loss

Net income for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Balance as of 31 August 2010 as restated

Prior period adjustment (Note 29)

Balance as of 31 August 2010 as previously
reported
42,070,226

120,026,125

308,087,433

9,422,134

317,509,567

Total
equity
$

-

-

65,650
52,173

-

65,650
52,173

17,941
17,941
17,941
(7,782,451)
(7,782,451)
(7,782,451)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------135,764
(7,782,451)
(7,646,687)
(7,646,687)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------146,126,846
31,295,050
119,563,246
296,985,142
8,431,024 305,416,166
============================================================================================================

65,650
52,173

8,334,405
8,334,405
(991,110)
7,343,295
(10,775,176)
(10,775,176)
(10,775,176)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(10,775,176)
8,334,405
(2,440,771)
(991,110)
(3,431,881)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(1,014,833)
(1,014,833)
(1,014,833)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------145,991,082
42,070,226
119,011,292
307,072,600
9,422,134 316,494,734
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

145,991,082

Share
Capital 		 Retained		 Non-controlling
		
capital
reserves		
earnings
Total
interests
$
$
$
$
$
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent

30,392,053

121,543,699

298,062,598

8,431,024

306,493,622

Total
equity
$

-

92,758
-

(69,647)
92,758
35,410

(296,079)
-

(69,647)
(203,321)
35,410

(127,001)
(127,001)
(127,001)
(5,836,838)
(5,836,838)
(5,836,838)
(71,093)
(71,093)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(161,238)
(5,744,080)
(5,905,318)
(367,172)
(6,272,490)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------145,965,608
30,247,846
120,835,951
297,049,405
7,276,092 304,325,497
============================================================================================================

(69,647)
35,410

7,016,785
7,016,785
(787,760)
6,229,025
(1,047,204)
(1,047,204)
(1,047,204)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(1,047,204)
7,016,785
5,969,581
(787,760)
5,181,821
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

902,997
(1,980,453)
(1,077,456)
(1,077,456)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------146,126,846
31,295,050
119,563,246
296,985,142
8,431,024 305,416,166
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

146,126,846

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Balance as of 31 August 2012

Total transactions with shareholders

Transactions with shareholders:
Shares repurchased
Repurchase of minority shareholding
Share-based payment
Change in equity component of convertible
promissory notes
Dividend paid (9.0¢ per share)
Dividend paid to minority interest

Total comprehensive income

Net income for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Balance as of 31 August 2011 as restated

Prior period adjustment (Note 29)

Balance as of 31 August 2011 as previously
reported

Share
Capital 		 Retained		 Non-controlling
		
capital
reserves		
earnings
Total
interests
$
$
$
$
$

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 August 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 August 2012
			
Restated
2012
2011
		$		$
Cash flows from operating activities
Income before taxation
4,727,443
6,135,480
Income before taxation from discontinued operations
276
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Income before taxation
4,727,443
6,135,756
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
16,699,438
14,605,811
Change in fair value of investment properties
1,300,000
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(398,823)
717,775
Impairment of decommissioned brewery assets
1,147,215
Gain on disposal of short-term investments
(60,623)
Unrealized loss on short-term investments
249,999
198,750
Share-based payment
35,410
52,173
Interest income
(11,355)
(157,660)
Interest expense
3,391,258
2,203,345
Post-employment medical liability
121,205
127,025
Pension plan asset
(1,020,734)
647,707
Income from grant
(59,700)
(39,800)
Share of income of associated companies
(13,282,072)
(11,096,287)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Operating profit before working capital changes
12,838,661
13,394,595
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable and prepayments
(3,082,092)
3,129,086
Decrease (increase) in inventories
2,337,544
(4,086,062)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accruals
(3,063,195)
10,339,513
Decrease in provision for deposits owed to customers
(8,477)
(210,104)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Cash generated from operations
9,022,441
22,567,028
Corporation taxes paid, net
(1,539)
(20,013)
Interest received
11,355
157,660
Interest paid
(3,391,258)
(2,203,345)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Net cash from operating activities
5,640,999
20,501,330
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
(25,380,322)
(62,257,762)
Dividends received from associated companies
1,998,539
1,571,403
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
4,843,266
312,192
Proceeds from disposal of short-term investments
305,623
Decrease in loans receivable
16,447
Redemption of short-term deposits
35,001,578
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Net cash used in investing activities
(18,232,894)
(25,356,142)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Cash flows from financing activities
Repurchase of shares
(69,647)
Proceeds from shares subscribed
65,650
Payment of dividend
(5,836,838)
(7,782,451)
Repurchase of minority shareholding
(203,321)
Dividend paid to minority shareholders
(71,093)
Net (repayments) proceeds of long-term liabilities
(680,709)
6,802,991
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Net cash used in financing activities
(6,861,608)
(913,810)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Decrease in cash
(19,453,503)
(5,768,622)
Cash – beginning of year
9,088,853
14,857,475
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Cash – end of year (Note 6)
(10,364,650)
9,088,853
====================================
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1.

Incorporation and principal activities
The Company and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) are incorporated in Barbados.
The principal activities of the Group are the brewing and bottling of alcoholic and non-alcoholic
beverages, the manufacturing of carbonated and non-carbonated beverages, the manufacturing
and processing of dairy products and fruit juices, and the sale of finished products. As the Group
is primarily involved in the manufacturing and sale of beverages, there are no distinguishable
business segments for segment reporting purposes.
The registered office is The Pine, St. Michael, Barbados.

2.

Subsidiary and associated companies
a] Subsidiary companies

		
		
		
		
		
		

Banks (Barbados) Breweries Limited
Barbados Bottling Co. Limited
B & B Distribution Limited
Duraplast Incorporated
Barbados Dairy Industries Limited
Plastic Containers Limited

(100% ownership)
(100% ownership)
(100% ownership)
(100% ownership)
(84.43% ownership)
(65% ownership)

b] Associated companies
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
3.

Citrus Products of Belize Limited
Chemical Industries Limited
GCG Services Limited
Caribco Limited
Newtech Incorporated
BCL (Barbados) Limited
Tower Hill Merchants Plc
BCB Communications Inc.
Banks DIH Limited

(46.58% ownership)
(40% ownership)
(33.33% ownership)
(30% ownership)
(26.2% ownership)
(25% ownership)
(36.7% ownership)
(20% ownership)
(20% ownership)

Significant accounting policies
The most significant policies are summarized below:
a]

Basis of accounting and financial statement preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for land
and buildings, investment properties and short-term investments, which are carried at fair
value. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
b]

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year
except for the adoption of the following standards, amendments and interpretations which
are effective in the current year:
The adoption of the standards or interpretations is described below:
IAS 24 – Related Party Transactions (Amendment)
The IASB issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the definitions of a related party.
The new definitions emphasize a symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management personnel affect related party
relationships of an entity. In addition, the amendment introduces an exemption from the
general related party disclosure requirements for transactions with government and entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the same government
as the reporting entity. The adoption of the amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendment clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of other comprehensive
income (OCI) for each component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity
or in the notes to the financial statements. The amendment is applied retrospectively, in
accordance with the requirements of IAS 8 for changes in accounting policy.
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues (Amendment)
The IASB issued an amendment that alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to
enable entities to classify rights issues and certain options or warrants as equity instruments.
The amendment is applicable if the rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of
the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number of
the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. The amendment had
no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.
IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting
The amendment provides guidance to illustrate how to apply the disclosure principles in
IAS 34 and requires additional disclosures of the circumstances likely to affect fair values
of financial instruments and their classification; transfers of financial instruments between
different levels of the fair value hierarchy; changes in classification of financial assets; and
changes in contingent liabilities and assets. The amendment is applied retrospectively, in
accordance with the requirements of IAS 8 for changes in accounting policy. This standard
had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
b]

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont’d)
IFRIC 14 - Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amendment)
The amendment removes an unintended consequence when an entity is subject to
minimum funding requirements and makes an early payment of contributions to cover such
requirements. The amendment permits a prepayment of future service cost by the entity to
be recognised as a pension asset. The amendment of the interpretation had no effect on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
Improvements to IFRSs
In May 2010, the IASB issued its third omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with
a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. The adoption of the amendments had no impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
IFRIC 19 - Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
This amendment clarifies that instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability
are consideration paid in accordance with paragraph 41 of IAS 39 Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement. The equity instruments issued are measured at their fair
value, unless this cannot be reliably measured, in which case, they are measured at the fair
value if the liability extinguished. Any gain or loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
This amendment of the interpretation had no effect on the financial position or performance
of the Group.
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendments emphasize the interaction between quantitative and qualitative disclosures
and the nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments as follows:
-

-

-

The amendments clarify that only financial assets with carrying amounts that do not reflect
the maximum exposure to credit risk need to provide further disclosure of the amount
that represents the maximum exposure to such risk;
The amendments require, for all financial assets, disclosure of the financial effect of
collateral held as security and other credit enhancements, including the amount that best
represents the maximum exposure to credit risk (e.g., a description of the extent to which
collateral mitigates credit risk);
The amendments remove the disclosure requirement of the collateral held as security,
other credit enhancements and an estimate of their fair value for financial assets that are
past due but not impaired, and financial assets that are individually determined to be
impaired;
The amendments remove the requirement to specifically disclose financial assets
renegotiated to avoid becoming past due or impaired;
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
b]

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont’d)
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures (cont’d)
- The amendments clarify that the additional disclosure required for financial assets obtained
by taking possession of collateral or other credit enhancements are only applicable to
assets held at the reporting date.
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure
Requirements
The amendment requires additional disclosures about financial assets that have been
transferred, but not derecognised, to enable the user of the Bank’s financial statements to
understand the relationship with those assets that have not been derecognised and their
associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures about continuing
involvement in derecognised assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of and risks
associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in those derecognised assets. The
adoption of this standard had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.
IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (Amendment)
- Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters
The amendment provides guidance on how an entity should resume presenting IFRS financial
statements when its functional currency ceases to be subject to severe hyperinflation. This
standard had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.
IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programmes
The amendment clarifies that when the fair value of award credits is measured based on
the value of the awards for which they could be redeemed, the amount of discounts or
incentives otherwise granted to customers not participating in the award credit scheme is
to be taken into account. The amendment is applied retrospectively, in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 8 for changes in accounting policy.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
c]

Standards issued but not yet effective
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial
statements are listed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they
become effective.
• IAS 1 – Financial Statement Presentation – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive
Income
• IAS 12 – Income Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets
• IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (Amendment)
• IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011)
• IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
• IAS 32 – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
• IFRS 1 – Government Loans – Amendments to IFRS 1
• IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
• IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement (Phase 1)
• IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
• IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
• IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
• IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
Annual Improvements May 2012 (effective 1 January 2013)
These improvements include:
IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment
IAS 32 – Financial Instruments, Presentation
IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting
The Group, however, expects no significant impact from the adoption of the amendments
on its financial position or performance.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
d]

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries, as disclosed in Note 2. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting
policies. All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealized profits from intragroup transactions have been eliminated in full. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Non-controlling interests represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets not owned,
directly or indirectly, by the Group and are presented separately in the statement of income,
statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position, separate from shareholders’ equity.

e]

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods have
passed to the buyer and the amount of revenue can be readily measured. Interest income is
recognized on the accrual basis.

f]

Foreign currencies
The financial statements are expressed in Barbados dollars, which is also the Group’s
functional currency.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Barbados dollars
are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities and transactions denominated in currencies other than
Barbados dollars are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are charged to the statement of income.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Barbados dollars at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of comprehensive income
are translated at an average rate during the year. The exchange differences arising on the
translation are recognized in the other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of translation reserve relating to a particular foreign operation is
recognized in retained earnings.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
g]

Taxation
The Group follows the liability method of accounting for taxation, whereby the future tax
asset or liability resulting from temporary differences is provided for at the estimated future
corporation tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the
liability settled. Deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses are recognized to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilized.

h]

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a
weighted average basis. Work-in-progress and finished goods comprise the direct cost of
production and an attributable proportion of direct overheads appropriate to location and
condition.
Spares and supplies are valued at cost. Provisions are made for obsolete, slow moving and
defective items as considered appropriate in the circumstances.

i]

Property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is made using the straight-line method over
the useful lives of the assets which are estimated as follows:

		
		
		
		
		
		

Freehold buildings
Leasehold buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fittings and other equipment
Motor vehicles
Containers

40 years
20, 33 1/3 and 50 years
3 to 20 years
3 to 10 years
5 years
3 to 10 years

Freehold land and freehold buildings are revalued every five years on the basis of their
market value which is determined by independent real estate appraisers.
j]

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary. Following initial recognition, goodwill
is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may be impaired.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
j]

Intangible assets (cont’d)
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash generating
units expected to benefit from the combination’s synergies. Impairment is determined by
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit, to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognized.

k]

Investments in associated companies
Investments, where the Group has significant influence, are classified as associated
companies and are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The investment
in associated companies is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates, less any impairment
in value. The statement of income reflects the share of the results of operations of the
associates. Where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the
statement of changes in equity. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

l]

Provision for deposits owed to customers
The quantity of containers in customers’ possession, on which the provision for deposits is
based, is estimated by management, having regard to the level of sales and the turnaround
of containers.

m]

Short-term investments
Short-term investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of consideration
given, and include acquisition charges associated with the investment. After initial
recognition, investments, which have been classified as at fair value through profit and loss,
are recorded at their fair value. The fair value of listed investments is their quoted market
price at the statement of financial position date. Privately held investments, in the absence
of readily ascertainable market values, have been estimated by management on the basis of
recent trades of similar investment. Unrealized gains or losses are recorded in the statement
of income.
The values assigned to the investments are based on available information and do not
necessarily represent the amounts that might ultimately be realized, since such amounts
depend on future circumstances and cannot be determined until the investments are
actually liquidated. Because of the inherent uncertainties of valuation, the assigned values
may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for
the investments existed, and the difference could be material.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
n]

Employee retirement benefits
The Group operates defined benefit pension plans, the assets of which are held in a
separate fund administered independently by a Trustee. The pension plans are funded
by payments from employees and the relevant Group companies, taking into account the
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.
The pension accounting costs are accrued using the projected unit credit method. Under
this method, the cost of providing pensions is charged to the statement of income so as
to spread the regular cost over the service lives of the employees in accordance with the
advice of independent qualified actuaries who carry out a full valuation of the plans every
three years. The pension obligation is measured as the present value of the estimated
future cash flows using interest rates of Government Securities which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related liability. Actuarial gains and losses are spread
forward over the average remaining service lives of employees.
The Group also operates defined contribution pension plans. Contributions to these plans
are charged to the statement of income in the year to which the contributions are made.
The Group also provides post-employment healthcare benefits to its employees, pensioners
and their registered dependants. These benefits are funded by contributions from relevant
group companies. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of
employment, using a methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to income over the expected average service lives of
the related employees. These obligations are valued by independent qualified actuaries.

o]

Leases
Finance leases are capitalized at fair value on inception of the lease agreement. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged directly against income. Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged against income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

p]

Interest bearing loans receivable and payable
All interest bearing loans receivable and payable are initially recognized at cost. After initial
recognition, they are measured at amortized cost.

q]

Cash
Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits net of bank overdrafts.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
r]

Grants
Grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognized as income over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset,
it is recognized as deferred income and released to income in equal amounts over the
expected useful life of the related asset. Where the Group receives non-monetary grants,
the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts and released to the statement of
income over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

s)

Convertible promissory notes
Convertible promissory notes are separated into liability and equity components based on
the terms of the contract. On issuance of the convertible promissory notes, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible
bond. This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at amortized cost (net of
transaction costs) until it is extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder
of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognized and included in
shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option
is not remeasured in subsequent years.

t]

Investment properties
Properties that are held by the Group to earn third party rental income and/or for capital
appreciation are classified as investment properties.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transactions costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the statement of financial position date. Transfers are made to investment
property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of owner-occupation.
Gains and losses arising from the changes in fair values of investment properties are
included in the statement of income in the year in which they arise. Fair values are based
on the advice of independent real estate appraisers taking into consideration replacement
cost, land tax valuations, capitalization of imputed rents and valuations of similar properties.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
u]

Share-based payment transactions
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (‘equity-settled transactions’).
Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in Note 18. In valuing
equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than
conditions linked to the price of the shares of the company, if applicable.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the
award (‘the vesting date’).
The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
statement of income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative
expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period.
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where
vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
conditions are satisfied.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized
is the expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are
met. An additional expense is recognized for any modification, which increases the total fair
value of the share-based payment arrangement or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
v]

Impairment of financial assets			
The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognized in income.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying value of
the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is recognized in income.
In relation to loans and receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under
the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced
through use of an allowance account.

w]

Impairment of other non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset
is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and
is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable
amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognized. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount.
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w]

Impairment of other non-financial assets (cont’d)
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.
Such reversal is recognized in income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

x]

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

y]

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are discussed below:
Operating lease commitments
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio.
The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties and so accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group determines whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial
assets at each reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details are disclosed in
Note 13.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
y]

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets
When the fair value declines or when there is objective evidence of impairment, management
makes assumptions about the declines in value to determine whether it is an impairment that
should be recognized in the statement of income.
Fair value of unquoted equity instruments
Where the fair value of financial assets recorded on the statement of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined by management on the basis of recent
trades of the same instrument.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.
Employee retirement benefits			
The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment medical benefits is
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions
about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, future
pension increases, proportion of employees opting for early retirement, and future increases
in the NIS ceiling. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to
significant uncertainty. Assumptions used are disclosed in Notes 14 and 15.
Share-based payments
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference
to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity
instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected
life of the option, volatility and dividend yield, and making assumptions about them. The
assumptions and models used are disclosed in Note 18.
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2012
			
$
Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Loss from operations
			

176,624,413
177,325,264
(129,409,120)
(131,581,860)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------47,215,293
45,743,404
2,425,875
1,770,310
(50,182,669)
(48,563,689)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------(541,501)
(1,049,975)
=======================================

Profit from operations is after charging:
				
			
2012
			
$
Depreciation
		
Staff costs
		

Restated
2011
$

Restated
2011
$

16,699,438
14,605,811
=======================================
40,743,802
41,835,417
=======================================
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2012
2011
		
$
$
Statement of income
The taxation credit on net income consists of:
Deferred tax recovery for the year
(1,636,481)
(1,207,539)
Over provision of prior year deferred tax
133,261
Write off of corporation tax refundable
1,638
		
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------			
(1,501,582)
(1,207,539)
			
=======================================
The tax on the income before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the basic corporation tax rate as follows:
			
			
2012
2011
		
$
$
Loss before taxation – parent and subsidiaries
Income before taxation from discontinued operations
		
			
		
Taxed at statutory rates of 15% and
25% (2011 – 15% and 25%)
Tax effect of capital allowances
Losses expired
Group relief claimed
Unrealized loss on revaluation of investment property
Other		
Losses not recognized for deferred tax
Overprovision of prior year deferred tax
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(8,554,629)
(4,960,807)
276
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------(8,554,629)
(4,960,531)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------(1,732,575)
(1,228,318)
(1,383,270)
(1,819,629)
29,874
(12,883)
325,000
352,148
541,318
816,737
1,269,216
133,261
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------(1,501,582)
(1,207,539)
=======================================
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5.
Taxation (cont’d)
			
		
Deferred tax asset
Balance – beginning of year
Deferred tax recovery for the year
Over provision of prior year deferred tax
		
Balance – end of year
			
		
		
Deferred tax asset is made up as follows:
Unutilized tax losses
Accelerated depreciation for income tax purposes
Pension asset
Provision for bad debts
Post-employment medical benefits
		
			
			

2012
$

2011
$

8,682,615
7,475,076
1,636,481
1,207,539
(133,261)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------10,185,835
8,682,615
=======================================
2012
$

2011
$

9,390,435
8,293,745
1,386,217
722,247
(1,012,510)
(882,733)
152,113
421,693
397,243
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------10,185,835
8,682,615
=======================================

45

ANNUAL REPORT 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 August 2012
5. Taxation (cont’d)
		
Tax losses totaling $71,127,137 (2011 – $57,845,972) are available to be carried forward by certain
subsidiaries and offset against future taxable income of those companies. The losses have not been
agreed with the Commissioner of Inland Revenue but they are not in dispute. The losses and their
expiry dates are as follows:
		
Income year
			
		
2004
		
2005
		
2006
		
2007
		
2008
		
2009
		
2010
		
2011
		
2012
			
			
		

Amount
$
970,366
3,544,484
3,576,113
3,423,710
6,504,457
4,349,416
15,260,054
19,569,900
13,928,637
-------------------------------71,127,137
===============

Expiry date
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

There is a potential deferred tax asset of $1,743,905 which has not been recognized since it is
uncertain that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized.
6.

Cash, short-term deposits and bank overdraft
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash is made up as follows:

			
			

2012
$

2011
$

Cash
Short-term deposits
		
		

3,342,770
1,903,426
15,068,993
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------3,342,770
16,972,419

Bank overdraft
		
		
			

(13,707,420)
(7,883,566)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------(10,364,650)
9,088,853
=======================================

Bank overdraft
The security for the overdraft facilities of the Group is disclosed in Note 17. Interest was charged at
rates between 8.05% and 9.05% (2011 - between 8.05% and 9.05%).
Short-term deposits
The short-term deposits earned interest at the respective short-term deposit rates ranging from
0.10% and 0.30% and were redeemed in September and November 2011.

46

ANNUAL REPORT 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 August 2012
7.

Accounts receivable and prepayments

Trade receivables
Other receivables and prepayments
		
			
		
Gross trade receivables
Provision for doubtful debts
		
Trade receivables (net)

2012
$

2011
$

14,612,751
11,878,945
4,416,376
4,068,090
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------19,029,127
15,947,035
=======================================
2012
$

2011
$

15,202,403
12,679,029
(589,652)
(800,084)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------14,612,751
11,878,945
=======================================

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 days terms.
As at 31 August 2012, trade receivables at a nominal value of $589,652 (2011 - $800,084) were
impaired and fully provided for. Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were
as follows:
					
Total
			$
At 31 August 2010		
Charge for the year		
Write-offs		
			
At 31 August 2011		
Charge for the year		
Write-offs		
			
At 31 August 2012		
			

895,914
222,826
(318,656)
--------------------------		
800,084
103,437
(313,869)
-------------------------589,652
============
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Accounts receivable and prepayments (cont’d)
As at 31 August 2012, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Past due but not impaired

			
Neither past
			
due nor
		
Total
impaired
		
$
$
2012
2011

14,612,751
11,878,945

12,625,379
11,006,800

<30
days
$

30-60
days
$

1,439,643
228,537

300,313
347,012

60-90
days
$
(74,932)
34,474

>90
days
$
322,348
262,122

With respect to trade receivables that are neither impaired nor past due, there are no indications
as of the reporting date that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations since the Group
trades only with recognized creditworthy third parties. With respect to other receivables and
prepayments an amount of $46,110 (2011 - $129,552) has been provided for in respect of a
non-trade receivable balance.
8.
Inventories
			
			
Raw materials
Finished goods
Work-in-progress
Sundry materials
Spare parts, fuel and factory supplies
			
			
			

2012
$

2011
$

16,394,928
19,731,866
12,257,067
10,424,149
1,117,789
1,234,406
215,928
314,728
5,867,295
6,485,402
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------35,853,007
38,190,551
=====================================

The amount of write-down of inventories recognized as an expense is $1,956,579 (2011 –
$5,666,598). This expense is included in cost of sales as disclosed in Note 4.
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9.

Accounts payable and accruals

Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
			

2012
$

2011
$

14,395,803
15,232,107
11,572,674
13,799,565
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------25,968,477
29,031,672
=====================================

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities
• Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-60 day terms.
• Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average of three to six months.
10.

Investments in associated companies

			
			
Cost of investments

2012
$

2011
$

68,514,761

68,514,761

Increase in equity value over cost from acquisition
to end of year
			
			

43,732,351
33,496,022
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------112,247,112
102,010,783
=======================================
The following illustrates summarized financial information of the Group’s share of associated
companies:
				
		
2012
2011
		
$
$
Assets
Liabilities
Revenue
Profit

234,673,385
217,437,008
=======================================
121,024,320
113,785,853
=======================================
163,677,769
138,540,919
=======================================
13,282,072
11,096,287
=======================================

Banks DIH Limited is traded on the Guyana Stock Exchange and the Group’s investment had a fair
value of $31,781,310 (2011 - $24,022,154) based on the closing price at year end.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
		
At			
		
At 31 August
Prior
31 August
		
2011
period
2011		
At 31 August
		
(as previously reported) adjustment
(restated)
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
2012
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
Cost or valuation
Freehold land
24,848,502
24,848,502
(7,487,986)
17,360,516
Freehold buildings
28,747,363
28,747,363
20,182
(448,663)
17,778,197
46,097,079
Buildings on leasehold land
19,097,026
19,097,026
212,701
88,072
19,397,799
Plant and machinery
116,755,332
116,755,332
5,680,518
(36,205,568)
56,749,083
142,979,364
Furniture, fittings and 		
other equipment
14,476,727
14,476,727
319,314
(1,457,827)
31,214
13,369,248
Motor vehicles
7,089,811
7,089,811
237,465
(2,704,579)
4,622,697
Containers
20,480,244
20,480,244
2,000,790
(11,459,353)
11,021,681
Capital works in progress
61,499,047
61,499,047
16,909,533
(78,408,580)
		
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------		
292,994,052
292,994,052
25,380,322
(52,275,990)
(11,250,000)
254,848,384
		
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Accumulated depreciation
Freehold buildings
1,077,456
1,077,456
1,175,939
(39,188)
2,214,207
Buildings on leasehold land
9,319,616
9,319,616
545,012
9,864,628
Plant and machinery
69,785,450
69,785,450
10,488,565
(32,093,784)
48,180,231
Furniture, fittings and
other equipment 		 11,752,113
11,752,113
1,395,219
(1,383,577)
11,763,755
Motor vehicles		 5,258,265
5,258,265
399,758
(1,749,912
3,908,111
Containers		16,182,753
16,182,753
2,694,945
(11,457,059)
7,420,639
		
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------		
112,298,197
1,077,456
113,375,653
16,699,438
(46,684,332)
(39,188)
83,351,571
		
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net book value
Freehold land
24,848,502
24,848,502			
17,360,516
Freehold buildings
28,747,363
27,669,907			
43,882,872
Buildings on leasehold land
9,777,410
9,777,410			
9,533,171
Plant and machinery
46,969,882
46,969,882			
94,799,133
Furniture, fittings and
other equipment
2,724,614
2,724,614			
1,605,493
Motor vehicles
1,831,546
1,831,546			
714,586
Containers
4,297,491
4,297,491			
3,601,042
Capital works in progress
61,499,047
61,499,047			
-------------------------------------------------------------------------			 ------------------------------------		
180,695,855
179,618,399
171,496,813
		
================
================		
================

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 August 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2012

11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
		
At			
		
At 31 August
Prior
31 August
At 31 August
		
2010
period
2010			
2011
		
(as previously reported)
adjustment
(restated)
Additions Disposals
Transfers Revaluations
(restated)
			
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
Cost or valuation
Freehold land
24,256,684
24,256,684
591,818
24,848,502
Freehold buildings
41,043,320
41,043,320
(12,295,957)
28,747,363
Buildings on leasehold land
16,591,487
16,591,487
555,409
1,950,130
19,097,026
Plant and machinery
101,336,157
- 101,336,157
7,121,043 (4,954,909) 13,253,041
116,755,332
Furniture, fittings and
other equipment
14,305,540
14,305,540
381,975
(182,755)
(28,033)
14,476,727
Motor vehicles
7,462,468
7,462,468
763,793 (1,136,450)
7,089,811
Containers
16,936,523
16,936,523
3,543,721
20,480,244
Capital works in progress
26,939,221
26,939,221 49,891,821
(156,857) (15,175,138)
61,499,047
		
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------		
248,871,400
- 248,871,400 62,257,762 (6,430,971)
(11,704,139)
292,994,052
		
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Accumulated depreciation
Freehold buildings
1,014,833
1,014,833
965,620
(902,997)
1,077,456
Buildings on leasehold land
8,793,817
8,793,817
525,799
9,319,616
Plant and machinery
65,294,100
65,294,100
8,615,026 (4,144,700)
21,024
69,785,450
Furniture, fittings and
other equipment 		10,610,006
10,610,006
1,322,888
(159,757)
(21,024)
11,752,113
Motor vehicles		5,680,587
5,680,587
674,225 (1,096,547)
5,258,265
Containers		13,680,500
13,680,500
2,502,253
16,182,753
		
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------		
104,059,010
1,014,833 105,073,843 14,605,811 (5,401,004)
(902,997)
113,375,653
		
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net book value
Freehold land
24,256,684
24,256,684			
24,848,502
Freehold buildings
41,043,320
40,028,487			
27,669,907
Buildings on leasehold land
7,797,670
7,797,670			
9,777,410
Plant and machinery
36,042,057
36,042,057
46,969,882
Furniture, fittings and
other equipment
3,695,534
3,695,534			
2,724,614
Motor vehicles
1,781,881
1,781,881			
1,831,546
Containers
3,256,023
3,256,023			
4,297,491
Capital works in progress
26,939,221
26,939,221			
61,499,047
		
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------		
144,812,390
143,797,557
179,618,399
		
================
================
================
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
		
The Group has plant and equipment with a net book value of $14,069,621 (2011 - $10,570,471)
secured under a finance lease.
On 1 July 2011, the Group’s freehold land and buildings at Wildey were revalued at a fair value of
$16,600,000 based on the advice of independent real estate appraisers. The revaluation decrease
of $10,801,142 was taken to revaluation surplus. Had the Group’s freehold land and buildings
been stated at their original cost, their carrying amount would have been $40,681,022 at 31 August
2012 (2011 - $22,220,703).
The Group commenced the construction of a new brewery in Newton in June 2010. This project
was completed in November 2011. During the 12 months to 31 August 2012, $271,799 (2011 $949,191) of borrowing costs have been capitalized on qualifying assets included in construction
in progress.
During the year freehold land and buildings in Wildey with a carrying value of $11,210,812 were
transferred to assets classified as held for sale.
12. Investment properties
		
		
Balance, beginning of the year
Change in fair value of investment properties
			
Balance, end of the year

2012
$

2011
$

13,800,000
13,800,000
(1,300,000)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------12,500,000
13,800,000
====================================

The Group’s freehold investment properties in Warrens and Thornbury Hill were revalued on
31 August 2012 based on the advice of independent real estate appraisers. The independent
valuation took into account replacement cost, land tax valuations, capitalization of imputed rents
and valuations of similar properties.
Included in profit from operations are the following amounts arising on investment properties:
		
								
		
2012
2011
		
$
$
Rental income
Operating expenses
			

52

858,037
800,223
(253,866)
(359,558)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------604,171
440,645
====================================
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13. Intangible assets
		
2012
2011
		
$
$
Goodwill
Balance, beginning and end of year			
578,962
578,962
		
==================================
The goodwill of $578,962 acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the
milk and juice manufacturing cash generating units.
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that the goodwill
is impaired. Management has assessed the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five year period and assuming a discount rate and growth
rate of 10.31% and 3% respectively (2011 - 10.31% and 2%).
14. Pension plan asset
		
			

2012
$

2011
$

The amounts recognized in the statement of financial
position are as follows:
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of funded obligations
			
			
Unrecognized actuarial gains
			
Net asset recognized in the statement of financial position
			

39,834,017
40,298,091
(32,782,232)
(30,874,836)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------7,051,785
9,423,255
(296,350)
(3,688,554)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------6,755,435
5,734,701
==================================

The amounts recognized in the statement of income
are as follows:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial gains recognized
Past service cost - vested benefits
Gains on curtailments and settlements
			
Total, included in staff costs
			

694,044
825,333
2,367,688
2,300,356
(3,101,894)
(2,830,224)
(263,494)
(81,342)
952,949
(514,397)
(204,500)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------(818,053)
962,572
==================================
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14.

Pension plan asset (cont’d)

		
2012
2011
			
$
$
Movements in the net asset are as follows:
Balance, beginning of the year
5,734,701
6,382,408
Net recovery (expense) recognized in the statement of income
818,053
(962,572)
Contributions paid
202,681
314,865
		
-------------------------------------------------------------------------Balance, end of the year
6,755,435
5,734,701
			
==================================
Actual return on plan assets

1,213,366
2,482,385
==================================

Changes in the present value of the obligation are as follows:
			

$

Defined benefit obligation at 31 August 2010		
31,708,204
Interest cost		
2,300,356
Current service cost		
1,128,149
Transfers in – liabilities		
114,589
Transfers out – liabilities		
(114,589)
Curtailments		(204,500)
Past service cost - vested benefits		
952,949
Benefits paid		
(1,830,329)
Actuarial gains on obligation		
(3,179,993)
			
-------------------------------Defined benefit obligation at 31 August 2011		
30,874,836
Interest cost		
2,367,688
Current service cost		
985,969
Transfers in – liabilities		
56,398
Transfers out – liabilities		
(56,398)
Curtailments		(514,397)
Benefits paid		
(2,172,045)
Actuarial losses on obligation		
1,240,181
			
-------------------------------Defined benefit obligation at 31 August 2012		
32,782,232
			
===============
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14.

Pension plan asset (cont’d)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
			
Fair value of plan assets at 31 August 2010		
Expected return 		
Contributions by employer and employees		
Benefits paid 		
Actuarial losses on plan assets 		
		
Fair value of plan assets at 31 August 2011		
Expected return 		
Contributions by employer and employees		
Benefits paid 		
Actuarial losses on plan assets 		
		
Fair value of plan assets at 31 August 2012		

$

39,028,354
2,830,224
617,681
(1,830,329)
(347,839)
----------------------------------40,298,091
3,101,893
494,606
(2,172,045)
(1,888,528)
----------------------------------39,834,017
================

		

The Group expects to contribute $236,534 to its defined benefit pension plans in 2013.
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as
follows:
		
2012
2011
		
%
%
Bonds
Mortgages
Equities
Mutual funds
Real estate
Other

22
8
25
16
22
7

19
8
30
20
20
3

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market expectations
prevailing on that date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.
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14.

Pension plan asset (cont’d)

		
Principal actuarial assumptions as at 31 August were:
Discount rate at end of year
Expected return on plan assets at end of year
Future promotional salary increases
Future inflationary salary increase
Future increases in NIS ceiling for earnings
Future pension increases

2012
%

2011
%

7.75		
7.75		
2.00		
3.00		
4.25		
3.75		

8.00
8.00
2.00
3.50
4.50
4.00

The pension plan of one of the subsidiaries is in the process of being wound up. The company
agreed to allocate on termination of the plan, the entire fund after provision for expenses, in
an equitable and suitable manner, among members, retired members and any other recipients
of benefits under the plan. This will be completed upon the agreement of the Trustees, upon
recommendation of the Actuary, and on approval by the Commissioner of Inland Revenue.
15. Post-employment medical liability
		
		
The amounts recognized in the statement of financial
position are as follows:
Present value of unfunded obligations
Unrecognized actuarial gains
		
Liability recognized in the statement of financial position
		

2012
$

2011
$

1,347,191
1,498,751
775,803
503,038
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------2,122,994
2,001,789
=====================================

		
2012
2011
		
$
$
The amounts recognized in the statement of income are
as follows:
Current service cost
74,741
79,874
Interest on obligation
123,980
115,933
Net actuarial gains recognized
(30,040)
(22,541)
		
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total, included in staff costs
168,681
173,266
		
=====================================
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15. Post-employment medical liability (cont’d)
		
		
Movements in the net liability recognized in the statement
of financial position are as follows:
Net liability, beginning of year
Net expense recognized in the statement of income
Contributions
		
Net liability, end of year
		

2012
$

2,001,789
1,874,764
168,681
173,266
(47,476)
(46,241)
----------------------------------------------------------------------------2,122,994
2,001,789
====================================

Changes in the present value of the obligation are as follows:
			

		

2011
$

$

Obligation at 31 August 2010		
1,489,020
Interest cost		
115,933
Current service cost		
79,874
Past service cost – vested		
1
Contributions		(46,241)
Actuarial gain		
(139,836)
			
---------------------------Obligation at 31 August 2011		
1,498,751
Interest cost		
123,980
Current service cost		
74,741
Contributions		(47,476)
Actuarial gain		
(302,805)
			
---------------------------Obligation at 31 August 2012		
1,347,191
=============
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15.

Post-employment medical liability (cont’d)

Principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting
purposes at 31 August were as follows:
		
Discount rate at end of year
Future medical claims/premium inflation

2012

2011

%

%

7.75
4.25

8.00
4.50

A one percentage point change in the assumed rate of increase in healthcare costs would have
the following effects:
2012
Effect on the aggregate current service cost
and interest cost
Effect on the obligation
2011
Effect on the aggregate current service cost
and interest cost
Effect on the obligation
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$

$

239,310

166,924

1,579,109

1,161,786

$

$

236,932

163,723

1,757,664

1,291,285
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16.
Grant
		
		
Balance, beginning of year
Released to the statement of income
		
Balance, end of year
		

2012
$

2011
$

557,200
597,000
(59,700)
(39,800)
------------------------------------------------------------------497,500
557,200
===============================

In 2010, a grant was received by the Group for the purchase of certain items of plant and
equipment. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to these grants.
		
		
Current
Non-current
		
		
		
17.
Long-term liabilities
			
(i)
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank
(ii)
Tetra Pak S.A.
(iii) SLU Beverages Ltd.
			
			
		
Less: Current portion
			
		Long-term portion
			
(i)

2012
$

2011
$

59,700
59,700
437,800
497,500
------------------------------------------------------------------497,500
557,200
===============================
2012
$

2011
$

25,093,628
27,197,524
8,728,594
7,305,407
2,225,878
2,098,877
----------------------------------------------------------------------36,048,100
36,601,808
(11,294,255)
(11,741,911)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------24,753,845
24,859,897
=================================

The CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank loans bear interest at rates between 6.55% and
7.05% (2011 - between 6.55% and 9.05%). The loans are repayable in various installments
of principal and interest. The Group has granted security for all the bank loans and the bank
overdrafts as follows: (a) a debenture over its fixed and floating assets registered and stamped
to cover $40,000,000; (b) the assignment of the insurance policies on various properties and
other permanent fixtures for sums assured totaling $42,142,250; (c) a letter of undertaking
to the bank to provide a mortgage over a subsidiary’s assets.
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17.

Long-term liabilities (cont’d)
(i)

There are also certain covenants and other conditions which the Group must maintain. At
31 August 2012, one of the Group’s subsidiaries was in breach of one of the covenants of
a loan but received a letter from the lender subsequent to year-end waving its rights under
the breach.

(ii)

The four Tetra Pak leases bear an interest rate of 3 Month Libor plus 2.5% with quarterly and
annual lease payments over 4 years. All of the leases are secured by certain equipment (See
Note 11). Future lease payments due within one year are $2,142,727 (2011 - $4,306,963).
Lease payments due after one year total $6,585,867 (2011 - $2,998,444).

(iii)

In 2010, the parent company of the Group entered into a convertible debt purchase
agreement with Latin Capital Fund 1, L.P. and SLU Beverages Ltd. (the Lenders) and issued 56
senior secured convertible promissory notes to SLU Beverages Ltd. Each note carries a par
value of $1,000,000 and is convertible in whole or in part at the option of the note holder into
common shares of the parent of the Group at $4.00 per common share. The notes carry an
interest rate of 1 year LIBOR plus 1.75%, payable bi-annually on 30 June and 31 December.
The shares of Banks (Barbados) Breweries Limited and Barbados Bottling Co. Limited have
been pledged as security for the notes. At 31 August 2012, 3 notes remained unconverted.
Any notes not converted will mature on 28 February 2020. The equity component of the notes
issued but not converted is reflected in share capital. The liability component is reflected in
long-term liabilities.
The principal and interest under the notes may not be prepaid by the Company, in whole or
in part, prior to the maturity date, without the consent of the note holders. None of the notes
or common shares obtained by the conversion of the notes shall be subject to repurchase,
purchase, or redemption at the option of the Company, and they shall only be redeemed
or repurchased at the option of the note holders. It is a condition of the agreement that no
further shares in Banks Holdings Limited be issued except with the written consent of the
Lenders until such times as the Lenders cease to hold shares and/or notes convertible into
shares in Banks Holdings Limited. There are also certain covenants and other conditions
which the Group must maintain until such time as the Lenders cease to hold shares obtained
by the conversion of the notes and/or notes convertible into shares in Banks Holdings
Limited.
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18.

Share capital
Authorized:
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares of one class designated as
common shares.
Stated and issued:
2012

Number

2011

2012
$

Stated

2011
$

At the beginning of the year
64,853,760
64,853,760 146,126,846 145,991,082
Shares issued in lieu of bonus
18,236
Shares subscribed for in
lieu of bonus
65,650
Shares repurchased and cancelled
(18,236)
(69,647)
Share-based payment
35,410
52,173
Change in equity component of
convertible promissory notes
(127,001)
17,941
		
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------At the end of the year
64,853,760
64,853,760 145,965,608 146,126,846
		
====================================================
At 31 August 2011 subscriptions were made by employees for 18,236 common shares for a
consideration of $65,650. These shares were issued in 2012. During the year the company
repurchased and retired 18,236 shares for a cost of $69,647.
		 Share-based payment plans
At a Special General Meeting held on 28 May 1998, the shareholders approved an Employee
Stock Option Plan (“ESOP”) in respect of the senior management of the Group for shares of not
more than 5% of the shares outstanding at that date. The term of the options is seven years from
the grant date and the options are granted at the closing prices of the Company’s shares on the
Barbados Stock Exchange as at the date of allotment, less a 10% discount. Under the terms of the
ESOP, the options vest in equal monthly installments over a period of three years.
As at 31 August 2012, 469,201 (2011- 663,256) stock options at exercise prices ranging from $3.47
to $3.87 were outstanding. The expense arising from equity-settled share-based transactions during
the year totaled $35,410 (2011 - $52,173). There have been no cancellations or modifications to
the plan during 2012 or 2011.
The movement in the number of share options and the weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”)
are as follows:
Number
WAEP
2012
2011
2012
2011
$
$
Outstanding at beginning of the year
663,256
784,878
3.57
3.55
Forfeited during the year
(33,268)
(55,762)
3.47
3.60
Expired during the year
(160,787)
(65,860)
3.87
3.33
		
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Outstanding at end of the year
469,201
663,256
3.47
3.57
		
============================================================
Exercisable at end of the year
469,201
618,956
3.47
3.57
		
============================================================

61

ANNUAL REPORT 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 August 2012
18.

Share capital (cont’d)
Share-based payment plans (cont’d)
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated at the date of grant using
a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted.
The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. There
were no options granted in the years ended 31 August 2012 or 31 August 2011.

19. Capital reserves
		Restated
		Revaluation		
		surplus
Other
Total
		$
$
$
			
Balance as of 31 August 2010		
42,176,304
(106,078)
42,070,226
Share of revaluation surplus and fair value
reserves of associated companies		
25,966
25,966
Revaluation of freehold land and
buildings (Note 11)		 (10,801,142)
(10,801,142)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balance as of 31 August 2011		
31,375,162
(80,112)
31,295,050
Share of revaluation surplus and fair value
reserves of associated companies		
(171,708)
(171,708)
Foreign currency translation adjustment		
(875,496)
(875,496)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balance as of 31 August 2012
31,375,162
(1,127,316)
30,247,846
		
=================================================
Other reserves
These reserves are comprised primarily of the Group’s share of fair value gains (losses) on available
for sale assets of an associated company and adjustments relating to currency translation on
associates.						
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20.

Related party balances and transactions
The amounts receivable from and amounts payable to other related parties represent transactions
with subsidiaries of The Barbados Shipping and Trading Co. Ltd.
Included in accounts receivable and accounts payable are the following related party balances:

		
		
Receivables
Associated companies
Other related parties
		
		
		
Payables
Associated companies
Other related parties
		
		
		

2012
$

2011
$

2,091,315
1,091,009
5,438,962
3,484,475
---------------------------------------------------------------------------7,530,277
4,575,484
===================================
3,038,942
1,084,273
106,353
300,647
---------------------------------------------------------------------------3,145,295
1,384,920
===================================

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with its associates and
subsidiaries of The Barbados Shipping and Trading Co. Ltd.
		
		
Sales
Purchases

2012
$

2011
$

53,610,782
24,338,730

39,859,639
24,857,763

The sales to and purchases from related parties are made under normal market prices. Outstanding
balances at the year end are unsecured and interest free. There have been no guarantees provided
or received for any related party receivables or payables and the Group has not made any provision
for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties for the years ended 31 August
2012 and 31 August 2011.
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20.

Related party balances and transactions (cont’d)
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

		
		
Short-term employment benefits
Post-employment benefits
		
		
21. Earnings per share

2012
$

2011
$

2,859,962
2,776,662
283,457
273,708
------------------------------------------------------------------------3,143,419
3,050,370
=================================

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations are calculated based on earnings of
$7,016,785 (2011 - $8,334,405) and a weighted average of 64,853,760 (2011 - 64,853,760) shares
in issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations is as a result of
ordinary shares granted under the Company’s ESOP and unconverted convertible promissory
notes amounted to 11¢ (2011 - 13¢) based on a potential weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue of 64,853,760 (2011 - 64,860,599).
22.

Operating lease commitments
The lease expense for the year was $317,797 (2011 - $57,250).
Future minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable leases are as follows as of 31 August:

		
		
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
		
		

2012
$

2011
$

466,953
14,133
1,167,604
------------------------------------------------------------------------1,634,557
14,133
=================================

		
Future minimum lease receivables under the non-cancellable leases are as follows as of 31 August:
		
		
Within one year
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2012
$

2011
$

791,066
813,056
=================================

ANNUAL REPORT 2012

BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 August 2012
23.

Commitments and contingencies
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure of $5,112,910 (2011 - $10,442,187) was approved by the Directors for the
ensuing financial year ending 31 August 2013 and nil (2011 - nil) was contracted for at the yearend date.
Litigation
As at 31 August 2012, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against the Group. No
provision has been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that a material loss will
arise or that it would be premature at this stage of the action to determine that eventuality.

24.

Dividend
Subsequent to year end, a dividend of 7 cents per share amounting to $4,539,763 (2011 - 9
cents per share, amounting to $5,836,838) was approved by the Directors. This dividend will be
accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the next financial year.

25.

Risk management
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise the bank overdraft, trade payables, deposits
owed to customers and long-term liabilities which comprise bank loans, finance lease obligations
and senior secured convertible promissory notes. The main purpose of these financial liabilities
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations and to finance investments. The Group has various
financial assets such as trade receivables, loans receivable, investments and cash which arise
directly from its operations. The Group does not enter into derivative transactions. The main risks
arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency
risk and credit risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks which are summarized below:
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows
or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by using a
mixture of fixed and variable rate debt. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in the market
interest rates relates primarily to its long-term liabilities.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rate,
with other variables held constant of the Group’s income before taxation. There is no impact on
the Group’s equity.
		
2012
Increase/decrease
Effect on profit
in basis points
before tax

2011
Effect on profit
before tax

+-50

222,427

248,778
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25.

Risk management (cont’d)
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates primarily in the Barbados market and
is therefore not subject to significant foreign currency risk. Management monitors its exposure
to foreign currency fluctuations and employs appropriate strategies to mitigate any potential
losses.
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Approximately 6% of the Group’s sales are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operating unit making the
sale, whilst 64% of purchases are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency.
However, the majority of the Group’s transactions are in United States dollars which has a fixed
exchange rate to the functional currency. Fluctuations in currencies other than United States
dollars are not considered significant.
Foreign currency exposure also arises from investments by the Group in currencies other than
the unit’s functional currency.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties may default on their obligations to the
Group. The amount of the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying
amount of its financial assets.
Concentration of credit risk
Concentrations of credit risk may arise from exposures to a single debtor or to groups of debtors
having a common characteristic such that their ability to meet their obligations is expected to be
affected similarly by changes in economic or other conditions. Substantially all the assets of the
Group are located in Barbados.
The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as
disclosed in Note 7. For transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating
unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the approval of Management.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise
cash, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.
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25.

Risk management (cont’d)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall
due under normal and stress circumstances. The Group monitors its liquidity risk by considering
the maturity of both its financial assets and projected cash flows from operations. Where possible,
the Group utilizes available credit facilities such as loans, overdrafts and other financing options.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of bank overdrafts and bank loans.
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 August
based on contractual undiscounted payments.
Year ended 31 August 2012

		
		
Bank overdraft
Trade payables
Provision for deposits
owed to customers
Long-term liabilities

On
Demand

1
year

2 to 5
years

>5
years

13,707,420
-

14,395,803

-

-

13,707,420
14,395,803

4,377,247

551,893
8,532,917

29,330,814

-

551,893
42,240,978

On
Demand

1
year

2 to 5
years

7,883,566
-

15,232,107

-

-

7,883,566
15,232,107

-

560,370
10,746,203

14,913,446

18,441,135

560,370
44,100,784

Total

Year ended 31 August 2011
		
		
Bank overdraft
Trade payables
Provision for deposits
owed to customers
Long-term liabilities

>5
years

Total

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder
value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 August 2012 and 31 August 2011.
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26.

Fair value of financial instruments
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s
financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements:
Carrying amount
2012
2011
$
$

Fair value
2012
2011
$
$

Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits
Short-term investments
Trade receivables

3,342,770
5
14,612,751

16,972,419
495,003
11,878,945

3,342,770
5
14,612,751

16,972,419
495,003
11,878,945

Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft
Trade payables
Long-term liabilities

13,707,420
14,395,803
36,048,100

7,883,566
15,232,107
36,601,808

13,707,420
14,395,803
36,048,100

7,883,566
15,232,107
36,601,808

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities comprise the Group’s cash and short-term
deposits, accounts receivable, accounts payable, provision for deposits owed to customers and
bank overdraft approximate their fair values because of their short-term maturities.
Long-term loans receivable and payable are at variable rates and consequently their fair values
approximate their carrying values.
Fair value of short-term investments is derived from quoted market prices in active markets, if
available at the reporting date.
Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 August 2012, the Group held the following financial instruments carried at fair value on
the statement of financial position:
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identifiable assets or liabilities.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that
are not based on observable market data.
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26.

Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)
Assets measured at fair value
31 August
2012
$

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

5

5

-

-

31 August
2011
$

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

495,003

495,003

-

-

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Short-term investments

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Short-term investments

During the reporting period ending 31 August 2012, there were no transfers between level 1
and 2 fair value adjustments.
27.

Discontinued operations
During 2008, the Directors decided to discontinue the manufacturing operations of Duraplast
Inc. Subsequent to year end, the entity was amalgamated with another subsidiary.

The results of the discontinued operations (net of intergroup transactions) for the years ending
31 August 2012 and 31 August 2011 are presented below:
			
2012
2011
			
$
$
Other income
Selling, general and administrative expenses
			
Income for the year
			
			
			
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

299
(23)
---------------------------------------------------------------------276
================================
2012
$
-		

2011
$
-

Basic and diluted earnings per share are based on the income for the year from discontinued
operations of nil (2011 - $276). To calculate the basic earnings per share and diluted earnings
per share from discontinued operations, the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
both basic and diluted amounts is disclosed in Note 21.
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28.

Asset classified as held for sale
During the year the company decided to dispose of the Wildey site which was vacated upon the
move of the Brewery to Newton. The Company is currently negotiating the sale of the property
which is expected to be completed within twelve months after year end. At 31 August 2012 the
property was classified as an asset held for sale.

29.

Prior period adjustment
During the year the Group adopted the policy of depreciating its freehold buildings and has
accounted for the change retrospectively. The comparative statements for 2010 and 2011 have
been restated to conform to the changed policy.
Consequently, as of 31 August 2010 retained earnings and property, plant and equipment
each decreased by $1,014,833. As of 31 August 2011 retained earnings and property, plant
and equipment decreased by $1,980,453 and $1,077,456 respectively. Revaluation surplus
increased by $902,997. Net income for the year ended 31 August 2011 decreased by $965,620.
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MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR
Company No: 15726
Management is required by the Companies Act Chapter 308 of the Laws of Barbados (hereinafter
called ‘the Companies Act’) to send, with the Notice convening the Meeting, forms of proxy. By
complying with the Companies Act, Management is deemed to be soliciting proxies within the
meaning of the Companies Act.
This Management Proxy Circular accompanies the Notice of the Fifty-fourth (54th) Annual General
Meeting of the Shareholders of Banks Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’) to be held at the Lloyd
Erskine Sandiford Centre, Two Mile Hill, St. Michael, Barbados, on Thursday the 14th day of
March, 2013 at 4:00 p.m. (hereinafter called ‘the Meeting’) and is furnished in connection with
the solicitation of proxies by the Management of the Company for use at the Meeting, or any
adjournments thereof. The solicitation will primarily be by mail. The cost of the solicitation will be
borne by the Company.
Proxies
A shareholder who is entitled to vote at a meeting of shareholders has the right by means of the
enclosed form of proxy to appoint a person to represent him by inserting the name of such person
in the space indicated in the form of proxy.
Proxies given by shareholders for use at the meeting may be revoked by the shareholder giving
such proxy at any time prior to their use. In addition to revocation in any other manner permitted by
Law, a proxy may be revoked by an instrument in writing executed by the shareholder or by his/her
attorney in writing; if the shareholder is a company, executed under its corporate seal or by any duly
authorised officer or attorney thereof, and deposited at the registered office of the Company at the
Pine, St. Michael at any time up to 4:15 p.m. on Tuesday 12 March, 2013 being two business days
preceding the day of the meeting, or any adjournment thereof, at which the proxy is to be used or
with the Chairman of such meeting, on the day of the meeting, or adjournment thereof, and upon
either of such deposits the proxy is revoked.
Record Date, Notice of Meeting and Voting Shares
The Directors of the Company have not fixed a record date for determining the shareholders who
are entitled to receive notice of the meeting. Only shareholders of record at the close of business
on the day immediately preceeding the day on which the notice is given under section 109
(1) of the Companies Act, will be entitled to receive notice of the meeting.
Only such registered holders of common shares of the company will be entitled to vote at the
meeting. Each holder is entitled to one vote for each share held. As at the date hereof there are
64,853,760 common shares without par value of the Company issued and outstanding.
Election of Directors
The Board of Directors consists of members who retire in rotation annually. On 31 August 2012
there were ten (10) Board members. The number of Directors of the Company to be elected at the
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meeting is three (3). The following are the names of the persons proposed as nominees for election
as Directors of the Company and for whom it is intended that votes will be cast for their election as
Directors pursuant to the forms of proxy enclosed herewith:Nominee for Director				
Present Principal Occupation
Mr. Elvin R Sealy					
Corporate Executive
Mr. Christopher deCaires				
Corporate Executive
Mr. Luis Alvarez					Corporate Executive
With respect to the persons named, the term of office for each person so elected will expire at
the close of the third Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of the Company following his
election or until his successor is elected or appointed. The Management of the Company does not
contemplate that any of the persons named above will, for any reason, become unable or unwilling
to serve as a director.
Mr. Elvin R Sealy, Mr. Christopher deCaires and Mr. Luis Alvarez are presently Directors of the
Company and will retire at the close of the Fifty-Fourth Annual General Meeting in accordance with
the provision of Clause 4.4 of the By-Laws of the Company but, being qualified, are eligible for reelection. Mr. Sealy was elected at the Fifty-First Annual General Meeting of the Company held on
Friday, February 5th, 2010 for a period ending at the close of the third Annual General Meeting after
his election. Mr. Luis Alvarez was appointed by the Board of Directors on 23 March, 2011, to fill a
vacancy created by the resignation of Ms. Claudia Lopez, who was appointed by the Board on 26
November, 2010 to fill a vacancy created by the retirement of Mr. Edward Bushell from the Board of
Directors on 25 November, 2010. Mr Bushell was elected at the Fifty-First Annual General Meeting
of the Company held on Friday, February 5th, 2010 for a period ending at the close of the third
Annual General Meeting after his election. Mr. Christopher deCaires was appointed by the Board
of Directors to fill a vacancy created by the resignation of Mr. Dan Bryan Stoute from the Board of
Directors on 31 December, 2012. Mr. Stoute was elected at the Fifty-First Annual General Meeting
of the Company held on Friday, February 5th, 2010 for a period ending at the close of the third
Annual General Meeting after his election.
Appointment of Auditors
It is proposed to nominate the firm Ernst & Young, the incumbent auditors of the accounts of the
Company, as auditors of the Company to hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders.
Discretionary Authority
Management knows of no matter to come before the meeting other than the matters referred to
in the notice of the meeting enclosed herewith. However, if any other matters which are not now
known to Management should properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof,
the shares represented by proxies in favour of Management nominees will be voted on any such
matter in accordance with the best judgment of the proxy nominee. Similar discretionary authority
is conferred with respect to amendments to the matters identified in the notice of the meeting. The
contents of this Management Proxy Circular and the sending thereof to the holders of the common
shares of the Company have been approved by the Directors of the Company.
No director’s statement has been received by the Company pursuant to section 71(2) of the
Companies Act.
No auditor’s statement has been received by the Company pursuant to section 163 (1) of the
Companies Act.

72

Company No: 15726
PROXY FORM
I/We……………………………………………………………………………………………………………of
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
shareholder(s) of BANKS HOLDINGS LIMITED (‘the Company’) hereby appoint
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………of
………………………………………………………………………………………………….. or, failing him,
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….….of
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
as the nominee of the undersigned to attend and act for the undersigned and on behalf of the
undersigned at the Fifty-fourth (54th) Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of Banks Holdings
Limited (the ‘Company’) to be held at the Lloyd Erskine Sandiford Centre, Two Mile Hill, St. Michael,
Barbados, on Thursday the 14th day of March, 2013 at 4:00 p.m. and at any adjournment
thereof in the same manner, to the same extent and with the same powers as if the undersigned
were present at the said meeting or such adjournment or adjournments thereof.
Dated this

day of

, 2013.

……………………………………………………………….
(Please print name of Shareholder)
……………………………………………………………….
(Signature of Shareholder)

NOTES:
1.

2.
3.

(a) A shareholder who is entitled to vote at any meeting of the shareholders may by means
of a proxy appoint a proxy holder, or one or more alternate proxy holders, none of
whom need be shareholders, to attend and act at the meeting in the manner and to the
extent authorised by the proxy and with the authority conferred by the proxy.
(b) In the case of a shareholder who is a body corporate or association, votes at a meeting of
shareholders may be given by any individual authorised by a resolution of the directors
or governing body of that body corporate or association to represent it at meetings of
the shareholders of the Company.
A proxy must be executed in writing by the shareholder or his attorney authorised in writing.
Proxy appointments are required to be deposited at the registered office of the
Company, Pine Hill Dairy Complex, The Pine, St. Michael, Barbados no later than 4:15
p.m. on the 12th day of March 2013.
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